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McM LLI AN, Circuit Judge.

Karl E. N col ace appeals froma final judgnent entered in the United
States District Court! for the Western District of Mssouri, after he pled
guilty to aiding and abetting an attenpt to possess with the intent to
distribute cocaine in violation of 21 US.C § 846 and 18 U.S.C. § 2. The
district court sentenced N col ace under the federal sentencing guidelines
to 188 nonths inprisonnent, eight years supervised rel ease and a speci al
assessnent of $ 50. 00. For reversal, Nicolace argues that the district

court erred in (1) considering a conviction that had been “set aside”
pursuant to the Federal Youth Corrections Act (FYCA) in calculating his
crimnal history category; (2) finding a drug conspiracy to be a
“controll ed substance offense” under the career offender sentencing

gui delines; and (3) finding he had failed to nake a threshold
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showi ng that the governnent acted irrationally or in bad faith in refusing
to file a nmotion for downward departure for substantial assistance. For
t he reasons di scussed bel ow, we affirmthe judgnent of the district court.

Backgr ound

In 1981 N col ace was convicted of conspiracy to distribute cocaine
in the United States District Court for the District of Kansas. He was
sentenced pursuant to FYCA, 18 U. S.C. & 5010(b), and was subsequently
parol ed in 1982. His conviction was set aside pursuant to 18 U S.C. §
5021. In 1991 Nicolace was convicted of two counts of distribution of
cocaine in the United States District Court for the District of Kansas.
Fol | owi ng an extended period of cooperation with the authorities, Nicolace
was sentenced to six nonths inprisonment and three years supervised
rel ease. He was placed on supervised rel ease in Cctober 1992.

On May 13, 1993, Nicolace drove to the Marriott Airport Hotel in
Kansas City, Mssouri, and bought two kilograns of cocaine for
approxi mately $42,000 from an FBI confidential informant. Two additi onal
kilograns were “fronted” or provided on consignnment to Nicolace. N colace
was arrested immediately and transported to a local hospital after
experiencing an anxiety attack. Shortly thereafter, David Jones, a person
who had been assisting N colace, was also arrested in the Marriott parking
| ot.

After his release fromthe hospital, N colace was questioned by the
FBI and indicated his willingness to cooperate. However, the FBlI began to
doubt N col ace’s candor after several nonths of neetings with N colace had
yi el ded no beneficial results.



On June 8, 1993, Nicolace and Jones? were indicted and charged with
one count of attenpted possession with intent to distribute cocaine in
violation of 21 US.C. 8§ 846 and 18 U. S.C. § 2. Thereafter, N colace’'s
brot her, Paul N col ace, approached the FBI and offered to cooperate with
the authorities in order to assist his brother. Paul N colace was at that
tinme on probation on state drug charges. The FBlI told Paul N col ace that
it could not direct himas an informant but that it would accept any
information he mght voluntarily provide. The FBI al so doubted Paul
Ni col ace’s candor, and the information he provided yielded no results. In
August 1993, the FBI told Paul N colace that neither it nor the US.
Attorney’'s Ofice was interested in his cooperation. On Novenber 23, 1993,
Ni colace pled guilty pursuant to a witten plea agreenent. The plea
agreenent did not contain any provisions regarding cooperation with the
governnent or the possible filing of a notion for downward departure based
on substantial assistance.

The district court held three sentencing hearings for N colace. At
the first sentencing hearing on February 18, 1994, the district court found
that N colace was a career offender, after rejecting N colace' s argunent
that his set-aside FYCA conviction for conspiracy to distribute cocaine
shoul d not be counted for purposes of career offender status. |In addition
at this hearing N colace raised the issue of whether the governnent had
acted unreasonably in refusing to file a notion for downward departure on
the basis of substantial assistance. The government argued that it had
refused N colace’s offer of cooperation and that Ni colace had provi ded no
substantial assistance.

At the second sentencing hearing on April 22, 1994, the district
court held that it had the authority to review the governnent’'s refusal to
nove for downward departure for substanti al

2Jones subsequently entered into a plea agreenent with the
gover nnent .
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assistance if the refusal was based on an unconstitutional notive or a
reason not rationally related to any legiti mate end.

On Septenber 21, 1994, an Addendum to the Presentence Report was
filed by the U S. Probation Oficer. The Probation Oficer noted that a
proposed anendnent to the U S.S.G § 4B1.1 application note would nake
Ni col ace eligible for a sentencing range of 188 to 235 nobnths, rather than
262 to 327 nonths.® The anendnent becane effective on Novenber 1, 1994.

At the final sentencing hearing on January 18, 1995, the district
court found that the governnment had not acted irrationally in refusing to

file a nmotion for downward departure for substantial assistance. The
district court sentenced N colace to 188 nonths inprisonnment, eight years
supervised release and a special assessnment of $50.00. This appeal
fol | oned.

Di scussi on

For reversal, N colace first argues that the district court erred in
using a prior federal narcotics conviction which had been set aside
pursuant to FYCA, 18 U.S.C. § 5021 (repealed 1984),% in

3The proposed anendnment defined the term “of fense statutory
maxi muni as the “maxi mum term of inprisonnment authorized for the
of fense of conviction that is a crine of violence or controlled
subst ance offense, not including any increased in the maximumterm
under a sentencing enhancenent provision that applies because of
the defendant’s prior crimnal record.” US. S G
8§ 4B1.1, comment. (n.2).

418 U.S. C. § 5021 provided:

(a) Upon the unconditional discharge by
the commssion of a conmmtted youth
of fender before the expiration of the
maxi mum sent ence i nposed upon him the
conviction shall be
automatically set aside and the Comm ssion shall issue to the youth
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calculating his crimnal history category. He contends that the term “set
aside” is synonynous with the term “expungenent” and that his prior
convi ction should therefore not have been considered by the district court.
W di sagree.

The instructions and definitions for conputing a defendant’s crimna
history score are set forth in US. S.G § 4Al1.2. “Expunged” convictions
are not counted. U S. S.G 8§ 4Al1.2(j). Convictions which have been “set
asi de,” however, are included in calculating the crimnal history score.
US S. G 8§ 4A1.2, comentary, application note 10.

A nunber of jurisdictions have various
procedures pursuant to which previous
convictions my be set aside or the
defendant nmay be pardoned for reasons
unrelated to innocence or errors of |aw
e.qg., in order to restore civil rights or to
remove the stigna associated with a crimna
conviction. Sentences resulting from such
convictions are to be counted. However ,
expunged convictions are not count ed.

The FYCA was enacted to encourage a youth's evolution into productive
citizenship by providing youthful offenders with a “fresh start.” Doe v.
Webster, 606 F.2d 1226, 1234 (D.C. Cr. 1979) (FYCA was intended to give
yout hful offenders “an opportunity

of fender a certificate to that effect.

(b) Wiere the youth offender has been
pl aced on probation by the Court, the
court may, in its di scretion
uncondi tionally discharge such youth
of fender from probation prior to the
expiration of the maxi num period of
probation theretofore fixed by the court
whi ch di scharge shall automatically set
aside the conviction, and the court
shall issue to the youth offender a
certificate to that effect.

18 U.S.C. § 5021.



toclean their slates to afford thema second chance, in terns of both jobs
and standing in the comunity”). Convictions set aside for this reason
shoul d be included when cal cul ating crimnal history. US S G § 4AL. 2;
see also United States v. MDonald, 991 F.2d 866, 872 (D.C. Cir. 1993)
(juvenile conviction that had been set aside under District of Colunbia

Youth Rehabilitation Act should be counted in defendant’s crimnal history,
because if a juvenile offender turns into a recidivist, “[s]ociety’'s
stronger interest is in punishing an unrepentant crininal”).

Therefore, we hold that the district court properly included
Ni col ace’s prior federal narcotics conviction, which had been “set aside”
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 5021, in the calculation of his crimnal history
cat egory.

Ni col ace next argues that the prior conviction set aside under FYCA
shoul d not have been counted towards his career offender status because
that conviction was for conspiracy. He argues that drug conspiracy is not
one of the predicate offenses listed in US. S.G § 4Bl.1, the career
of f ender guideline.®

Ni col ace’s contentions are without nerit, in light of this court’s
recent en banc decision in Uiited States v. Mendoza-Fi queroa, 65 F.3d 691,
692-94 (8th Cr. 1995) (en banc) (Mendoza

°U.S.S.G 8§ 4B1.1 provides:

A defendant is a career offender if (1)
the defendant was at |east eighteen
years old at the tinme of the instant
offense, (2) the instant offense of
conviction is a felony that is either a
crime of wviolence or a controlled
subst ance of fense, and (3) the defendant
has at | east two prior f el ony
convictions of either a «crine of
violence or a controlled substance
of f ense.
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Figueroa I11), cert. denied, 116 S. C. 939 (1996), holding that the
sent enci ng conmi ssi on had not exceeded its statutory authority by including

drug conspiracy offenses in its definition of predicate offenses for career
of fender status under U S.S.G § 4B1.1. See United States v. Mendoza-
Fiqueroa |, 28 F.3d 766, 766-68 (8th Cr. 1994) (following United States
v. Price, 990 F.2d 1367, 1369-70 (D.C. GCir. 1993) (Price)). W therefore
hold that the district court properly included Nicolace' s drug conspiracy

in deternmining his career offender status.

Finally, N colace challenges the district court's finding that he
failed to make a threshold showing that the governnent had acted
irrationally or in bad faith in refusing to file a notion for downward
departure for substantial assistance. The governnent’'s refusal to file a
substanti al -assi stance notion is reviewabl e only when the defendant nakes
a substantial threshold showing that the refusal was irrational or based
on an unconstitutional notive. Wde v. United States, 504 U S. 181, 185-87
(1992). In the present case, the district court concluded that N col ace

had failed to make such a showing and therefore declined to review the
governnent’s deci si on. See | Sentencing Trans. 81-82. We agree that
Ni col ace failed to meet his threshold burden of showi ng that the governnent
had acted irrationally or in bad faith in refusing to nove for a
subst anti al - assi stance downward departure. W note that the FBlI questioned
Ni col ace’s candor during its discussions with N colace follow ng his My
1993 arrest. Al though Nicolace had identified two persons as drug
traffickers, he was unable to contact either individual, and nothing
devel oped fromthe information he provided. Sinmilarly, the informtion
Paul Nicol ace gave the governnent in an attenpt to help his brother had
al so proven to be of little use. Therefore, in August 1993, the governnent
filed a notice to enhance puni shnent and i nfornmed Paul N colace that it was
not interested in pursuing his cooperation. |In addition, Nicolace' s plea
agr eenent



did not contain any provisions regarding cooperation with the governnment
or the possible filing of a substantial assistance notion

Therefore, we hold that the district court did not err in finding
that N colace had failed to nake a substantial threshold showi ng that the
governnent’s refusal to file a notion for downward departure for
substantial assistance was irrational or based on an unconstitutional
notive.

Concl usi on

W hold that the district court did not err in including Nicolace's
prior conviction, which had been set aside pursuant to FYCA, in the
determination of his crimnal history category and career offender status.
We further hold that the district court properly declined to review the
governnent’s refusal to file a substantial -assi stance notion for downward
departure, because N colace had failed to show that the governnent had
acted irrationally or based upon an unconstitutional notive. Accordingly,
the judgnment of the district court is affirned.
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